IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

TRACI ANN GROSVENOR,

Petitioner,

v.

Case No. SC02-1307

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

______/

PETITIONER GROSVENOR'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

On Conflict Certification from the District Court of Appeal for the Fifth District, State of Florida

ROBERT S. GRISCTI
204 West University Ave., Suite 6
Post Office Box 508
Gainesville, FL 32602
352/375-4460
Florida Bar No. 300446
Counsel for Petitioner GROSVENOR

Preliminary Statement
Statement of the Case and of the Facts
Summary of the Argument
Argument
Issue I
THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL ERRED AS A MATTER OF LAW AND IS IN DIRECT CONFLICT WITH OTHER DISTRICT COURTS OF APPEAL BY REQUIRING THE PETITIONER, WHO WAS NOT ADVISED BY TRIAL COUNSEL OF THE DEFENSE OF INVOLUNTARY INTOXICATION PRIOR TO PETITIONER'S PLEA, TO SHOW THAT VOLUNTARY INTOXICATION WAS A "VIABLE" TRIAL DEFENSE TO MEET THE PREJUDICE PRONG FOR POST-CONVICTION RELIEF UNDER STRICKLAND V. WASHINGTON, 466 U.S. 668 (1984).
Issue II
THE PETITIONER MET HER BURDEN OF SHOWING PREJUDICE FOR POST-CONVICTION RELIEF BY PROOF THAT IF SHE HAD BEEN ADVISED BY TRIAL COUNSEL OF THE DEFENSE OF VOLUNTARY INTOXICATION, SHE WOULD HAVE PROCEEDED TO TRIAL.
Conclusion
Certificate of Service
Certificate of Compliance with Font Requirements
Appendix filed separately
Request for Oral Argument filed separately

TABLE OF CITATIONS

Cases

<u>Cirack v. State</u> , 201 So.2d 706 (Fla. 1967) 20
<u>Cousino v. State</u> , 770 So.2d 1258 (Fla. 4 th DCA 2000)14,15,19
<u>Diaz v. State</u> , 534 So.2d 817 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988)12,14,16,17
<u>Evans v. Meyer</u> , 742 F.2d 371 (7 th Cir. 1984)
<u>Frazier v. State</u> , 447 So.2d 959 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984) 16,17
<u>Garner v. State</u> , 9 So. 835 (Fla. 1891)
<u>Grady v. State</u> , 687 So.2d 931 (Fla. 1 st DCA 1997)
<u>Grosvenor v. State</u> , 27 Fla. L. Weekly D1171 (Fla. 5 th DCA May 17, 2002)
<u>Gurganus v. State</u> , 451 So.2d 817 (Fla. 1984) 20
<u>Hill v. Lockhart</u> , 474 U.S. 52 (1985) 13,15,16,18
<u>Hobbs v. State</u> , 790 So.2d 1164 (Fla. 4 th DCA 2001)14
<u>Holsworth v. State</u> , 522 So.2d 348 (Fla. 1988)
<u>Knight v. State</u> , 394 So.2d 997 (Fla. 1981)
<u>Linehan v. State</u> , 476 So.2d 1262 (Fla. 1985) 20
<u>Maples v. State</u> , 804 So.2d 599 (Fla. 5th DCA 2002) 14
<u>Mason v. State</u> , 742 So.2d 370 (Fla. 1 st DCA 1999) .14,16,17,18,19
<u>McCoy v. State</u> , 598 So.2d 169 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992) 16
<pre>McGuire v. State, 584 So.2d 89 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991,</pre>
Odom v. State, 782 So.2d 510 (Fla. 1st DCA 2001)
O'Bryant v. State, 765 So.2d 745 (Fla. 1st DCA 2000)

<u>Patterson v. LeMaster</u> , 21 P.3d 1032 (N.M. 2001) 23
Regan v. State, 730 So. 2d 828 (Fla. 1 st DCA 1999)
<u>Richardson v. State</u> , 677 So.2d 43 (Fla. 1 st DCA 1996)
<u>Siegel v. State</u> , 586 So.2d 1341 (Fla 5 th DCA 1991).11,12,14,16,17
<u>State v. Ginebra</u> , 511 So.2d 960 (Fla. 1987)
<u>Strickland v. Washington</u> , 466 U.S. 668, <u>rehearing denied</u> , 467 U.S. 1267 (1984)12,14,15,17,19,20
United States v. Loughery, 908 F.2d 1014 (D.C.Cir. 1990) 23
Wofford v. Wainwright, 748 F.2d 1505 (11th Cir. 194) 19
<u>Worden v. State</u> , 688 So.2d 958 (Fla. 4 th DCA 1997)14,16
Young v. State, 789 So.2d 1160 (Fla. 5 th DCA 2001)
Constitutions
Art.I, §9, Fla. Const
Art.I, §16, Fla. Const
Amend. V, U.S. Const
Amend. VI, U.S. Const
Amend. XIV, U.S. Const
Statutes
§775.087, Fla. Stat. (1987)
§777.04(1), Fla. Stat. (1987)
§§782.04(1)(a), Fla Stat. (1987)

3§812.13(2)(a), Fla. Stat. (1987)
§843.01, Fla. Stat. (1987)
Rules
Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.850
Fla.R.App.P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(vi)
Fla.R.App.P. 9.125
Fla.R.App.P. 9.210(a)(2)

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

In this brief, Petitioner TRACI ANN GROSVENOR will be referred to by name or as the Petitioner. The Respondent will be referred to as the State.

References to the original ten-volume Record on Appeal will be made by the letter "R" followed by the appropriate volume and page number of the Record; e.g., "R-I-2" designates Volume I, page two of the Record. References to the two-volume transcript of the February 24, 2000 post-conviction evidentiary hearing will be made by the letter "R" followed by the appropriate volume of the Record, then the original page number of the transcript preceded by a "T"; e.g., "R-IX-T1" designates page 1 of the transcript found in Volume IX of the Record on Appeal.

References to the separately-bound Appendix will be made by the designation "App.", followed by the appropriate page number in the Appendix; e.g., "App., p. 1."

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

This proceeding invokes the discretionary jurisdiction of the Supreme Court to review the opinion of the Fifth District Court of Appeal in <u>Traci Ann Grosvenor v. State</u>, 27 Fla. L. Weekly D1171 (Fla. 5th DCA May 17, 2002) (App. 1, p. 1), which certified direct conflict with decisions of other District Courts of Appeal.

The relevant facts of this case began in early April 1989. At that time, the Petitioner lived with her daughter in Sarasota. She had no prior felony record. She worked two jobs and regularly used "speed" to stay awake, depriving herself of sleep for prolonged periods. (R-IX-T25, T82-83).

GROSVENOR first met Raymond Jeffrey McGuire in Sarasota around the second week of April. They started a week-long binge of drinking alcohol and using cocaine. The two traveled from Sarasota to Tampa on April 13 and continued to drink alcohol and smoke marijuana. (R-IX-T34). On April 14 they left Tampa on Interstate 75, northbound, drinking a 12-pack of beer and smoking half a sandwich bag of marijuana before exiting at Bushnell in Sumter County because of a tire problem. They stopped at an auto store that was closed for the night, where they continued to smoke marijuana while McGuire replaced the tire with one stolen from the lot. (R-IX-T30-31).

Sumter County Deputy Donald Dockham was patrolling the area, saw McGuire and GROSVENOR, approached and questioned them, and locked McGuire in the patrol car, leaving GROSVENOR in her car. Dockham called the store owner, Bartley Giddens, who drove to the lot with his son, Raymond Giddens. After their arrival, GROSVENOR exited her car with a handgun. Dockham testified that GROSVENOR shot him and released McGuire from the patrol car.

Dockham shot GROSVENOR in the ankle. Raymond Giddens was killed and Bartley Giddens was wounded. Dockham testified the shooting continued after McGuire was released but was unable to say who did the shooting. (R. IV-629-633). Bartley Giddens testified that GROSVENOR shot his son at least once, shot four or five other rounds, but was unclear about who fired other shots. (R. IV-647-650).

After leaving the scene, McGuire and GROSVENOR were arrested at a nearby hotel on April 15. GROSVENOR was transported to the Leesburg Regional Medical Center and underwent surgery. A laboratory report showed the presence of marijuana and cocaine in her system when she arrived at the hospital. (R. VI-1176-1178)(App., p. 2).

GROSVENOR was indicted for capital first degree murder¹, attempted first-degree murder of a law enforcement officer², attempted first-degree murder with a firearm³, robbery with a firearm⁴, and resisting arrest with violence⁵. McGuire was also indicted. GROSVENOR was represented by Hugh Lee and Michael

¹§782.04 (1)(a), Fla.Stat. (1987).

²§777.04(1), Fla.Stat. (1987).

³§782.04(1)(a), 777.04(1), 775.087, Fla.Stat. (1987).

⁴§812.13(2)(a), Fla.Stat. (1987).

⁵§843.01, Fla.Stat. (1987).

Johnson of the Public Defender's Office for the Fifth Judicial Circuit. (R. IV-661).

Lee had primary responsibility for the case. GROSVENOR initially saw Lee at the Sumter County jail after her release from the hospital. GROSVENOR became concerned when Lee didn't continue to visit her and she could not reach him by phone. She wrote to Lee about his lack of communication. (R. IV-1181-1192, IX-T39-42, 73). She understood that Lee could not see her after working hours because he did not have a driver's license. (R. IX-T44). When he did visit, GROSVENOR smelled alcohol on his breath. (R. X-T193-194, 199-202).

In fact, Lee already had a history of alcohol-related problems when he represented GROSVENOR. (R. VII-1193-1260; IX-1663-1665). He had been arrested in Sumter County for driving while intoxicated in 1988 and, pursuant to a plea agreement with the State Attorney, pled nolo contendere to reckless driving in April, 1989. He was sentenced to three months probation and his driver's license was suspended. He also was arrested for driving on a suspended license in March, 1989 and entered a plea agreement with the State Attorney's Office in Sumter County in June, 1990. (R. VII-1193-1260; IX-1663-1665).

⁶Lee also had various complaints filed against him with the Florida Bar. Lee was again arrested for driving while intoxicated in August 1990, after GROSVENOR's plea. He pled

Throughout his representation of her, Lee never advised GROSVENOR about the defense of voluntary intoxication, although GROSVENOR told Lee that she had used drugs and alcohol prior to and on the day of the offenses. (R. IX-T46, 51, 54, 72-73, 83). Lee also received a tape recording (R. V) and transcript (R. VII-1264-1276) in discovery from the State of a statement made by GROSVENOR to a law enforcement officer after her arrest and while she was hospitalized, in which she told the officer about her drug and alcohol use at the time of the offenses.

Prior to the scheduled trial in May, 1990, Lee renewed contact with GROSVENOR. (R. IX-T39-43, 73). GROSVENOR told Lee she wanted to go to trial. (R. IX-T43). She also expressed this to Mr. Johnson, Lee's co-counsel. (R. IX-T44). GROSVENOR asked Lee not to speak with her family because he would explain, in detail, what happens during electrocution. Nonetheless, he did so. The family was told there were no trial defenses. (R. IX-T43, 45-48, 51, 54, 72-78: X-T196-202, 206). GROSVENOR's mother had a breakdown (R. IX-T49-50) and the Petitioner's brother, Michael Grosvenor, became involved in the plea discussions on Lee's request. (R. X-T193).

guilty and was sentenced to probation and community service. This arrest led to a public reprimand By Order of the Supreme Court of Florida dated December 19, 1991. He was ordered by this Court to enter into evaluation and rehabilitative treatment for alcohol abuse. (R. VII-1226-1260).

Mr. Grosvenor had talked with his sister about her dissatisfaction with Lee. She had told her brother she did not want to plead and wanted to go to trial. (R. X-T197-200). When Mr. Grosvenor met Lee, Lee asked Michael Grosvenor to convince his sister to take the plea because there was no defense and she would get the electric chair. Voluntary intoxication was never discussed as a potential trial defense. (R. X-T196). As a consequence, Mr. Grosvenor advised his sister to take the plea to avoid the death penalty. (R. X-T198).

GROSVENOR, unaware of any trial defense, agreed to enter into a plea with the understanding that it would be nolo contendere. (R. IX-T52). On May 31, 1990, GROSVENOR appeared in Court. Her Plea and Waiver of Rights form she had been changed to read "guilty" and in GROSVENOR's "best interest." (R. I-1-142, Exhibit 11; R. V-777-81). GROSVENOR expressed concern to Lee that the plea paperwork stated that she was pleading guilty to first degree murder. Lee told her he would explain that to her after the plea hearing; however, he did not do so and would not accept her calls from the jail. GROSVENOR wrote to Lee, asking him to withdraw from her case; she received no response. (R. IX-T52).

GROSVENOR then called a local newspaper, the <u>Daily</u>

<u>Commercial</u>. She told a reporter that she didn't kill anybody

and if she had a "split hair chance" at trial, she wanted to take it. (R. IX-T52-53). An article headlined "Sumter Suspect Recants" was printed June 5, 1990. The presiding Judge read the article and sua sponte vacated the plea on June 6, 1990, attaching a copy of the article to his Order. (R. V-782-84) (App., pp. 3-5).

Several days later an investigator for the Public Defender's Office interviewed GROSVENOR at the Sumter County jail. She told him about her drug use. (R. VII-1301, 1319-20; IX-T46). The investigator interviewed several witnesses in Sarasota who corroborated GROSVENOR's extensive drug use. The investigator, in turn, reported this to Lee. (R. VII-1301, 1319-20; 1323, 1334, 1359-63, 66).

Various defense motions were filed after the plea was vacated, including a request for appointment of a mental health expert. The Court granted that motion on June 10 and GROSVENOR was interviewed by a psychologist, to whom GROSVENOR reported her drug and alcohol use before and during the offenses. (R. VII-1380-1407). The psychologist wrote a report for defense counsel including those facts. (R. VII-1380-1407; IX-T53-54).

Michael Grosvenor had further conversations with his sister after her first plea. She told her brother she wanted to go to trial. Defense counsel continued to advise Mr. Grosvenor that

his sister should take the plea because there was no trial defense. (R-X-T203-206). GROSVENOR's uncontradicted testimony is that she was never advised in this post-plea period about voluntary intoxication as a possible defense to the charges she faced. (R. IX-T54).

Again unaware of any trial defense, GROSVENOR accepted her attorneys' advice and entered pleas of nolo contendere to all charges pending against her. She was sentenced pursuant to plea agreement to two life terms, two fifty-year terms and one five-year term, all running concurrently and imposed by the Circuit Court on June 15, 1990. (R. I-22-30). As part of her plea agreement she testified against Raymond McGuire, who the State contended killed Raymond Giddens. McGuire eventually was tried and convicted of first degree murder, attempted first degree murder with a firearm and robbery with a firearm.

GROSVENOR filed her Motion for Post-Conviction Relief and Request for Evidentiary Hearing (hereafter Post-Conviction Motion)(R. I-1-142), seeking to vacate her Judgments and Sentences so that she might proceed to trial. GROSVENOR alleged that had she been informed by her trial counsel of any trial defense, including voluntary intoxication, she would not have

⁷Raymond Jeffrey McGuire v. State, 584 So.2d 89 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991), appeal after remand, 639 So.2d 1043 (Fla. 5th DCA), rehearing denied, 649 So.2d 234 (1994).

entered her pleas and instead would have proceeded to trial. (R. I-18).

In response to GROSVENOR's unopposed motion, the Circuit Court bifurcated the post-conviction evidentiary hearing. (R. II-397-399, 402-403, 404-405)(App., pp. 6-7). The trial Court ordered the following procedure:

The hearing on the Motion of Defendant Traci Ann Post-conviction Grosvenor for Relief will bifurcated with the Court first considering the issue of prejudice to Petitioner, making the assumption arguendo that the deficiency of trial counsel's performance has been established. If the issue is resolved against the Petitioner, the Petitioner may take whatever action she deems appropriate, including If the issue of prejudice is resolved in favor of the Petitioner, upon request the issue of the alleged deficiency of trial counsel's performance will be considered at a separate hearing.

(R. II-404). Alleged deficiencies in trial counsel's representation of GROSVENOR, accepted as established, specifically included the failure to timely investigate the defense of voluntary intoxication and the failure to communicate with GROSVENOR and advise her about possible trial defenses, including voluntary intoxication. (R. I-1-12-17).

At the post-conviction evidentiary hearing, GROSVENOR presented expert testimony from a psychologist with special expertise in substance and alcohol addiction and abuse. (R. X-T129, 133). That witness substantiated GROSVENOR's defense of voluntary intoxication and testified that GROSVENOR's use of

alcohol and drugs before and on April 14, 1989 rendered GROSVENOR unable to specifically intend to commit the criminal acts to which she plead. (R. X-T139-140).

Grosvenor also testified at the post-conviction hearing, as did Michael Grosvenor. Their testimony is referenced in the factual statement above; in summary, they confirmed that GROSVENOR repeatedly expressed her desire to proceed to trial before and after her first plea, that neither she nor her family was advised of voluntary intoxication as a defense, and that had she known of a possible trial defense, GROSVENOR would not have entered a plea and would have proceeded to trial. Two other witnesses testified who had known GROSVENOR in Sarasota prior to her arrest. The State presented no witnesses. The parties stipulated to the entry of document exhibits as evidence. (R. V-776-990; VI-991-1192; VII-1193-1407; VIII-1408-1627; IX-1628-1678).

The Circuit Court subsequently entered its written Order Denying Defendant's Motion for Post-Conviction Relief with Attachments (R. IV-552-683)(App., pp. 8-19). That Court found, in relevant part, that GROSVENOR and witnesses who testified at hearing on her behalf did not overcome Deputy Dockham and Bartley Giddens' prior testimony that GROSVENOR did not act or appear under the influence of intoxicants on the night of April

14, 1989 (R. IV-553-555, 559), and that the only evidence of intoxication was that self-reported by GROSVENOR (R. IV-558). The Court did not make any reference to the laboratory report introduced as evidence in the post-conviction hearing that showed the presence of marijuana and cocaine when GROSVENOR was hospitalized the day after the offenses. (R. VI-1176-1178). The Circuit Court concluded that the Petitioner had not shown voluntary intoxication to be a "viable" defense, citing Siegel v. State, 586 So.2d 1341 (Fla 5th DCA 1991). (R. IV-558-561)(App., p. 9).

GROSVENOR filed a timely Notice of Appeal and Suggestion of Certification to the Florida Supreme Court pursuant to Rule 9.125, Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure. (App., pp. 20-23). That Suggestion was deferred to the assigned merit panel. After oral argument, the District Court rendered its opinion, affirming the Circuit Court but certifying direct conflict between its opinion and decisions of the First and Fourth District Courts of Appeal. The Petitioner invoked jurisdiction Supreme Court οf Florida pursuant 9.030(a)(2)(A)(vi) of the Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure and Article V, Section (b)(4) of the Constitution of the State of Florida. This Court postponed its decision on jurisdiction and ordered briefing on the merits.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This case presents this Court with the opportunity to resolve conflict in the District Courts of Appeal regarding the appropriate legal standard for determining the "prejudice" prong of Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984), rehearing denied, 467 U.S. 1267 (1984) in a post-conviction proceeding following a defendant's conviction pursuant to plea when the defendant has not been advised by trial counsel of an applicable affirmative defense. In this case, the Fifth District applied an incorrect legal standard based on its prior precedent in Siegel v. State, 586 So. 2d 1341 (Fla 5th DCA 1991) and the Third District Court of Appeal's decision in Diaz v. State, 534 So.2d 817 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988). Siegel and Diaz require a defendant to establish that the affirmative defense would be "viable" at trial before post-conviction relief will be granted to vacate a plea. In the present case, the Fifth District Court of Appeal certified direct conflict with decisions of the First and Fourth District Courts of Appeal, which do not require a postconviction defendant to establish the viability of affirmative defense. The First and Fourth District Courts of Appeal correctly state the correct legal standard applicable to this case under state and federal constitutional analysis. This issue has not been certified as direct conflict in prior

decisions. This Court should resolve the conflict in the District Courts by reversing the Fifth District Court of Appeal in this case.

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