IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

TRACI ANN GROSVENOR,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. SC02-1307

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

KELLIE A. NIELAN
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY

Fla. Bar #618550

PAMELA J. KOLLER

ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Fla. Bar #0775990 444 Seabreeze Boulevard 5th Floor Daytona Beach, FL 32118 (386) 238-4990

GENERAL

FAX: (386)238-4997

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS
SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT
ARGUMENT
POINT I
THERE IS NO CONFLICT BETWEEN THIS CASE AND THE CASES CERTIFIED BY THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL; ACCORDINGLY, THIS COURT SHOULD REFUSE TO ACCEPT JURISDICTION AND LET STAND THE DECISION SUSTAINING THE TRIAL COURT'S DENIAL OF POST-CONVICTION RELIEF; RELIEF IS NOT WARRANTED AS THE EVIDENCE ADDUCED AT THE HEARING ESTABLISHED THAT THE VOLUNTARY INTOXICATION DEFENSE WOULD NOT HAVE BEEN SUCCESSFUL AT TRIAL
CONCLUSION
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

CASES:

<pre>Cousino v. State, 770 So. 2d 1258 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000) 9,11,12,13,22</pre>
<u>Diaz v. State</u> , 534 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988)
<u>Evans v. Meyer</u> , 742 F.2d 371 (7th Cir. 1984)
<u>Gavilan v. State</u> , 765 So. 2d 308, 308-09 (Fla. 5th DCA 2000) 19
<u>Grosvenor v. State</u> , 816 So. 2d 822 (Fla. 5 th DCA 2002)
<u>Hill v. Lockhart</u> , 474 U.S. 52 (1985)
<pre>Mason v. State, 742 So. 2d 370 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999) 9,11,12,13,22</pre>
Odom v. State, 782 So. 2d 510 (Fla. 1st DCA)
<u>Siegel v. State</u> , 586 So. 2d 1341 (Fla. 5 th DCA 1991) 9,11,12,22
<u>State v. Williams</u> , 797 So. 2d 1235, 1239 (Fla. 2001)
<u>Strickland v. Washington</u> , 466 U.S. 668 (1984)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent generally agrees with the statement of the case and facts as provided by Petitioner, but would supplement them with the following:

On June 15, 1990, Petitioner pled nolo contendere to one count of First Degree Murder, two counts of Attempted First Degree Murder with a Firearm, one count of Robbery with a Firearm and one count of Resisting Arrest with Violence; all crimes having occurred on April 14, 1989, and into April 15, 1989. (R159, Vol I) In return for her plea, the State agreed not to seek the death penalty and she received a life sentence a minimum mandatory term of twenty-five years incarceration. (R138-141, Vol I) Also as part of the agreement, Petitioner agreed to testify at trial against her co-(R139, Vol I) Included in the written plea agreement executed by Petitioner is the following assertion: "My attorney has discussed with me the defense(s) that might be available to the charge(s) and has given me the benefit of his advice...." (R140, Vol I)

Petitioner filed a motion for post-conviction relief on June 15, 1992, asserting claims of ineffective assistance of counsel and involuntary plea. (R1-20, Vol I) The State filed a written response on September 7, 1992, requesting the trial judge

summarily deny Petitioner's claims. (R159-170, Vol I) Petitioner filed a reply to the State's response and the trial court granted Petitioner's request for an evidentiary hearing. (R383, 386, Vol II) The hearing date was continued several times at Petitioner's request. (R391,392,394, Vol II) A motion to hold a bifurcated hearing and initially address the prejudice prong was filed by Petitioner on May 11, 1993. (R397-99, Vol II) The State agreed to such an arrangement on May 24, 1993, and the trial court granted the motion for bifurcated hearing on June 15, 1993. (R402,404, Vol II) A hearing on the prejudice prong was finally set for February 24, 2000. (R411, Vol II)

The State and Petitioner stipulated to the admission of several exhibits and documents at the evidentiary hearing including the co-defendant's trial transcript. (R421,489, Vol III) Many exhibits were ultimately admitted at the hearing including, inter alia, the co-defendant's trial transcript, Petitioner's statement to police and a deposition of trial counsel, all of which were subsequently incorporated by the trial court in his findings of facts. (R512-513, Vol III; R552,555,556, Vol IV)

Trial counsel's deposition revealed he had consulted with an expert and other attorneys regarding the voluntary intoxication defense and concluded it was not viable. (R1641-

42,1645, Vol IX) When he spoke with Petitioner, she advised him that she only had a couple of beers at the time and was not intoxicated. (R1636, Vol IX) Allegedly, she was forthcoming with the experts regarding her use of drugs and alcohol, but these experts concluded the use of intoxicants may be helpful for mitigation during the penalty phase, but would most likely be unsuccessful. (R1637, Vol IX) Her claim as revealed in her statement to law enforcement was that she was not the shooter, which was diametrically opposed to the testimony of the victims. (R1633-34, Vol IX) Finally, according to defense counsel, Sumter County juries do not consider voluntary intoxication as mitigation for murder. (R1655, Vol IX) Trial counsel indicated he could not recall whether or not he discussed the voluntary intoxication defense with Petitioner, but he did discuss her intoxication with her and she denied she was intoxicated. (R1636,1642, Vol IX)

Petitioner advised law enforcement during her interview in the hospital, after being advised of the intoxicants in her system, "well, if I was that intoxicated I don't think I would remember the incident, but I would say that I was a little high, tipsy." (R49, Vol I) Petitioner's statement to police was, as the trial court recognized, "largely self-serving and exculpatory." (R560, Vol IV) At the evidentiary hearing, she

agreed she could carry on an intelligent conversation the night of the shootings. (T69, Vol I) Moreover, her own expert noted Petitioner possessed a fairly extensive recollection of the events leading up to, during, and after the shootings. (R133, Vol I)

The two witnesses to the shootings both testified that they did not observe any indications of intoxication. According to the deputy, he was within five feet of Petitioner prior to the shootings¹ and he did not smell any alcoholic beverages on her person and her responses to his questions were appropriate. (R188-89, Vol I) After the owners of the automobile arrived, the deputy stepped back to permit them time to discuss whether or not to pursue charges against Petitioner and her co-defendant for stealing a tire. (R248, Vol II) While the deputy waited, Petitioner came around the car with a gun and pointed the firearm at him and the car owners. (R3248-49, Vol II) The deputy was trying to pull his weapon, when Petitioner stated something to the effect that she hated to do this, but this thing is ready to go and shot the deputy. (R250, Vol II) After having been hit and knocked to the ground, the deputy returned fire. <u>Id</u>. Petitioner moved behind the patrol car and there

 $^{^{1}}$ Petitioner verified during her video deposition that the deputy was four or five feet from her when they were talking prior to the shootings. (R1533, Vol VIII)

were several more shots. (R251,255, Vol II) The car owners' vehicle drove off and the deputy fired at the vehicle attempting to stop it. (R260,261, Vol II)

One of the car owners (the other shooting victim and father of the deceased) revealed that soon after the deputy advised Petitioner he was taking Petitioner to jail2, Petitioner was pointing a gun at them. (R300,305, Vol II) All three told Petitioner to put the gun down and suddenly the victim realized his son was shot and watched his son fall to the ground. (R305, Vol II) The victim described Petitioner's demeanor as calm, in her right mind and professional. (R310, Vol II) She did not appear to be drunk. (R308-09, Vol II) Next time he observed the deputy, the deputy was on the ground. (R313, Vol II) Petitioner ran to the back of the patrol car and released the co-defendant. (R315, Vol II) Both Petitioner and her codefendant headed back toward their vehicle and when he raised his head, Petitioner shot at him four or five times, wounding him. Id. There was more shooting after he was hit, but he did not know which of the two was doing the shooting. One of the two jumped in the front of his car and one jumped in the back.

 $^{^2}$ Although the deputy could not recall this fact at his deposition, according to the officer first on the scene after the shootings, the deputy advised the officer that he was "going to go to the suspects' vehicle to go 10-15." The deputy explained that 10-15 means arrest. (R205-06, Vol I)

Id.

Petitioner testified at the hearing on her behalf. indicated that on the date she and her co-defendant became embroiled in the shootings, they shared two twelve packs of beer (or one twelve pack, depending on which of her versions is believed). (R1485, Vol VIII; T31-32, Vol I) Moreover, they smoked the remaining one half of a baggy of cannabis. (T30, Vol She also consumed caffeine pills. (T63-64, Vol I) I) She admitted that on the day of the shooting, she could walk, talk and drive a car. (T66, Vol I) She could also carry on a coherent conversation and possessed a good recollection of the events of the shooting. (T68-69,70, Vol I) Finally, the State noted that after her arrest, she made no mention of having drugs in her system until the officer advised her blood tests indicated positive for cocaine and cannabis. (T80, Vol I)

Lori Mets, Petitioner's daughter's babysitter, testified that three days before Petitioner left for Georgia, it was obvious Petitioner was under the influence, primarily cannabis. Specifically, Petitioner was slurring her words, nervous and edgy. (T87,89,91,92,94, Vol I) Bonnie Wimmer, from whom Petitioner stole blank checks and jewelry, indicated Petitioner was "not normal" three days prior to the shootings. More specifically, Petitioner was staggering, disoriented, incoherent

and "out of it." (T103,104,106,110, Vol I) Petitioner's brother also revealed that when Petitioner was under the influence, it was obvious as her speech was slurred, she had red eyes and could not communicate coherently. (T182,208, Vol II)

Petitioner presented the testimony of Dr. Pamela Olcatt (Olcatt), a clinical psychologist. (T119, Vol II) Olcatt met with Petitioner for a total of seven hours in 1992 and three to four hours in 1999. (T134,135-36, Vol II) She opined that Petitioner was incapable of forming the intent to commit the criminal acts for which she was convicted, in that such an intent was too complex. (T139, Vol II) She believed that due to Petitioner's long term abuse of drugs, Petitioner would not possess a good memory. (T159, Vol II) Olcatt admitted Petitioner was not a reliable historian of her use of drugs and alcohol prior to the shootings. (T158,176, Vol II)

Upon cross-examination, Olcatt conceded she was relying solely on information provided by Petitioner regarding the amount of alcohol and drug use prior to the shooting, as there was no way to corroborate Petitioner's claims. (T167, Vol II) Olcatt never spoke to the victims who observed Petitioner immediately prior to and during the shootings, i.e., the deputy and father of the deceased, in making her assessment of

Petitioner's ability to form intent. (T169, Vol II)

When confronted with the testimony of the witnesses to the shooting who indicated Petitioner did not have the odor of an alcoholic beverage on or about her, that her speech was not slurred and she spoke coherently, Olcatt impliedly surmised Petitioner was a practiced drunk. (T164,167,173-74, Vol II) Olcatt was asked if the fact that witnesses testified that 72 hours prior to the shooting, Petitioner was demonstrating obvious indications of intoxication, i.e., staggering and swaying, would mitigate against a conclusion that Petitioner is a practiced drunk. (T177, Vol II) Olcatt admitted that it might. Id.

Finally, the State asked Olcatt how the expert hired by trial counsel could have concluded Petitioner possessed a good sense of recall, yet Olcatt opined Petitioner did not. (T178, Vol II) Olcatt indicated expert opinions can differ. Id. At the conclusion of the hearing, the trial judge requested both sides to submit memoranda of law. (T211,214, Vol II)

On February 22, 2001, the trial court rendered an order denying the motion for post-conviction relief. (R552-563, Vol IV) The trial court set forth findings of fact including those set forth above, as well as trial counsel's unrefuted testimony at his deposition wherein he indicated he had considered and

rejected a voluntary intoxication defense. (R553-555, Vol IV)

In applying these facts to the law, the trial court concluded prejudice was not established by trial counsel's alleged failure to advise Petitioner of, or to pursue, the voluntary intoxication defense. (R558, Vol IV)

Moreover, the court concluded, any information regarding the amount of alcohol and drug use would have been solely reliant upon Petitioner's claims. (R558, Vol IV) As such, Olcatt's reliance on these statements and ultimate conclusion of lack of intent would arguably not have been admissible at trial. (R559, Vol IV) Two witnesses, including a deputy and the father of the deceased victim, who had the opportunity to fully observe Petitioner's demeanor immediately prior to and during the shootings, testified Petitioner did not demonstrate indications of intoxication. Id. Furthermore, Petitioner's witnesses were not present at the shooting and they all agreed that Petitioner demonstrated obvious indications of intoxication when under the influence. Id. As such, the trial court concluded Petitioner was not intoxicated at the time of the shootings such that the voluntary intoxication defense would have been viable. Id. Moreover, her actions in running to the patrol car after pulling the gun in order to release her codefendant and escaping in the victim's vehicle, showed Petitioner capable of hatching a plan and executing that plan, again indicating Petitioner was not intoxicated. <u>Id</u>.

Finally, noting that the Fifth District Court of Appeal (DCA) requires a showing of viability of a defense in order to prevail on a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel where a plea was entered, the trial judge concluded the voluntary intoxication defense was not viable. Petitioner's witnesses could not testify regarding her demeanor the evening of the shootings, so that her claim of intoxication would have solely relied upon her unreliable and self-serving claims. (R560, Vol IV) Petitioner appealed the order denying her motion for post-conviction relief to the Fifth DCA.

In its opinion affirming the trial court's order denying post-conviction relief, the Fifth DCA relied upon its decision in <u>Siegel v. State</u>, 586 So. 2d 1341 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991) and the Third District Court of Appeal's opinion in <u>Diaz v. State</u>, 534 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988). The DCA certified conflict with the Fourth and First District Courts of Appeal in <u>Cousino v. State</u>, 770 So. 2d 1258 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000) and <u>Mason v. State</u>, 742 So. 2d 370 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999), respectively. <u>Grosvenor v. State</u>, 816 So. 2d 822 (Fla. 5th DCA 2002).

This Court has postponed a decision on jurisdiction pursuant to an order issued on June 17, 2002.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

POINT I: This Court should not take jurisdiction of this case and let stand the Fifth District Court of Appeal's (DCA) opinion affirming the trial court's denial of relief. Any conflict between the cases certified by the Fifth DCA are inapplicable to the instant case as the circumstances herein do not require or involve the application of or clarification of the allegedly conflicting positions set forth in <u>Siegel v. State</u>, 586 So. 2d 1341 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991), <u>Mason v. State</u>, 742 So. 2d 370 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999) or <u>Cousino v. State</u>, 770 So. 2d 1258 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000), since Petitioner received an evidentiary hearing on her claim of ineffective assistance of counsel after a plea.

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